
 1

                  
City Council Minutes 
The City of Cortland 

 
August 21, 2007 

 
Council Meeting #15 
August 21, 2007 
Regular Business Session 
City Hall 
7:00 PM 
 
Present:  Alderman VanGorder, Terwilliger, Cobb, DeCarlo,   
   Quail, Feiszli, Partigianoni and Michales 
 
Staff Present: Director of Admin. & Finance Andrew Damiano and 
   Corporation Counsel Lawrence Knickerbocker  
 
Mayor Gallagher calls the fifteenth Common Council meeting of the year to order at 
7:00 PM. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Anne Doyle came to note that Lincoln Avenue was looking pretty good.  She noted that 
the Cortland Standard article regarding the tour of Otter Creek and why they did not tour 
Madison, Maple, Lincoln, Groton, etc.  The Mayor and Alderman Feiszli noted that they 
did walk that area. 
 
JoAnn Dukelow was present to comment as a landlord/owner regarding the two (2) 
proposals received on nuisance parties and front yard parking ordinances.  She noted 
that two (2) days receipt of those draft proposals was not enough time to review them.  
She felt that there was no support from the police in regards to parties held on private 
property.   She felt that the definition of loud noise and nuisance parties were difficult to 
enforce when concerts in the park made more noise than some parties.  She felt that 
these ordinances were going to lead to selective enforcement.   She went on to speak 
about illegal front yard parking and felt the proposition was confusing.  She felt that the 
police should enforce the laws, not the landlords. 
 
Ward Dukelow was representing the Cortland Apartment Owners Association that’s 
been existence since 1964.  This is primarily an educational organization.  He 
expressed their concerns with the proposed nuisance and parking ordinances.  His 
organization recognizes that there are problems with students and non-students, but 
they felt that as landlords, they would now be taking on the role of parents to their 
tenants.  The organization was opposed to these two ordinances. 



 2

 
Mick Pace is a student landlord.  He feels that students have to be responsible for their 
own actions.  He doesn’t feel that landlords should be accountable for student tenant 
actions.  He tried to institute odd even parking some time ago and was turned down.  
Other college towns do it, but Cortland will not consider it.  He asked that it be tried to 
see how it works.  He also noted that there were illegally parked cars all over town, not 
just students and he felt that everyone should be targeted.  He asked that they 
reconsider these ordinances. 
 
The Mayor noted that this was not targeting students, but was inclusive of the whole 
community. 
 
Mike Carroll noted that he took pictures today on a swing through the City and noted 
fifty-five (55) violations at single family homes.   This was before the students even 
arrived.  In regards to a responsible person, he felt the person committing the action 
had to be the responsible person.  He noted that these ordinances were making the 
homeowners the responsible persons. 
 
Steve Muka is also a landlord and he is concerned about these ordinances, especially 
the nuisance party ordinance and first amendment rights.  He doesn’t rent too many 
students.  He’s also concerned about the parking ordinance and wished he had had 
more time to go through it and he already has many questions.  He felt landlords did not 
have a lot of input in the development of these ordinances.  He felt landlords wanted to 
help with these issues and wanted to be included.  He asked that they not vote on these 
ordinances until the landlords had some input.  He expressed his concerns regarding 
persons who attend a gathering that were not invited and caused a problem.  He 
wanted more discussion and input before these ordinances were put to a vote. 
 
Donna Jenney is also a landlord and appreciated the efforts being made to draft 
ordinances.  She felt that landlords were not given a chance to give their input on these 
two ordinances.  She felt that landlords or homeowners shouldn’t be held accountable 
for others actions.  She also has had problems with illegal parking and the resolution 
cost her a lot of money.  She felt that the two (2) proposed ordinances were very vague. 
 
Kay Zaharis, Director from the Cortland Free Library, was present to give a report on 
the library’s renovations, updated services and activities over the past year. 
 
Mike Dexter gave an update on tree trimming in the City.  Nelson Tree Co. has been 
hired by National Grid to do the trimming in the City.  Door hangers were left on home 
doors because they came in on short notice.  He asked that homeowners invest in their 
property and plant trees. 
 
Minutes of August 7,  2007 
 
RESOLUTION #80 OF 2007 - Approve the minutes of August 7, 2007, as amended. 
 
By:   Alderman Partigianoni 
Seconded:  Alderman DeCarlo 
 



 3

Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
Bills were reviewed and received. 
 
Mayor’s Report 
 
He attended Family Health Network meeting.  He also met with Marietta Corporation to 
discuss truck routes.  He attended the Brockway Truck Show.  He also participated in 
the walk thru at Otter Creek and Dry Creek with the DEC and Soil and Water 
Conservation.  He attended ribbon cutting ceremony at Ramada Inn.  He met with Mr. 
Younger who will be teaching Mandarin at the Homer High Schools.  He is on an 
education program from China.  He also met with CNY SNAP to discuss their spay and 
neutering program.  He had a radio interview with WHCU and Channel 9 News 
regarding the upcoming discussion on the nuisance party permit and front yard parking.   
 
REMINDER: 
 
This weekend is Celtic Festival 
 
Ward 1 - Alderman VanGorder 
 
Her Ward has been quiet except for a report of a woodchuck in the Rosewood and 
Bellevue area.  She spoke with Andy Damiano, Director of Administration and Finance 
and learned that there were no more funds left for animal removal in this year’s budget.  
She did receive a call from Mr. Muka and she wanted everyone to know that the Council 
was not an impulsive group and they wanted to make every effort to listen to everyone’s 
concerns and input. 
 
Ward 2 - Alderman Terwilliger 
 
She thanked the staff of the Library.  She and her family enjoyed the library very much.  
She has been working on some code issues.  She has also been talking with people in 
her neighborhood about parking, flooding issues and students returning.  She spoke 
with a constituent regarding the abandoned house on the corner of Maple and 
Woodruff.  It is still a nuisance and she has talked with the Corporation Counsel in 
regards to it.  She reminded everyone of the Celtic Festival and noted that it has been 
relocated to the Courthouse Park and she hoped everyone would attend. 
 
Ward 3 - Alderman Cobb 
 
Her Ward has been quiet.  She did receive some calls from residents regarding the non-
dredging of Otter Creek and they expressed their disappointment.  They noted that it 
used to be done about thirty (30) years ago, on a semi-regular basis.  They wanted to 
let the Council know that they’ll be watching the situation. 
 
Ward 4 - Alderman DeCarlo 
 



 4

He noted that he did not know that Brockway made tractors.  He noted that the 
Brockway show was very impressive.  He attended the Ramada Inn ribbon cutting and 
invited everyone to see the new Inn.  He asked that Systems East, Inc. be placed on the 
agenda at a later date to give a proposal.  Andy Damiano noted that would be a 
business/financial proposal and that they should contact him and make the proposal to 
his office prior to being placed on the agenda.   He noted that there were some 
technical and administrative issues that needed to be worked through.  Alderman 
DeCarlo is looking forward to the Celtic Festival. 
 
Ward 5 - Alderman Quail 
 
He addressed several issues with the Code Office.  He attended the Brockway truck 
show.  He noted that the work put into some of the vehicles was amazing. 
 
Ward 6 - Alderman Feiszli 
 
She received a concern regarding the structural beams of the railroad trestle at the end 
of Pearne and Willow Aves.   She has taken pictures of the beams and is in the process 
of drafting a letter to the railroad requesting an inspection.  She noted that they replaced 
the ties on the top due to an earlier inspection, but she now sees rusted beams and this 
could be a problem with the overall structural integrity.  She is also working on the issue 
of the abandoned house on Pearne Ave.  She is continuing to work on the additional 
lighting along the railroad behind Sampson St. there’s a lot of youth going along the 
tracks, partying on the island back there.  She noted that a sensor light had been put on 
a pole on Front Street and would like to request that the tree company trim the tree to 
allow more light to shine underneath the trestle and the brush needs to be cleared.  
Mike Dexter asked her to email that request to him. 
 
She is planning another Neighborhood Watch meeting for the Sampson, Pearne and 
North Main Street areas.  She would like to invite Lt. Gesin and Sgt. Carpenter to talk 
about home and personal safety.  The time and place for this meeting will be 
announced at the next Council meeting.  She is continuing to work on gathering 
information required by Thoma Development for grant applications for retaining wall 
replacement funding.  Thoma noted that there has never been a grant like this in the 
City because this is work on private property, but a survey is being done to determine 
income eligibility and the walk through was part of the process needed to apply for a 
grant.  Alderman Cobb offered to assist with this.  Alderman Feiszli noted that during the 
walk through they saw that the bottom of the majority of the creek beds were below the 
retaining wall bases, and that is why the engineers feel that the retaining walls are 
crumbling.  There were also concerns about the narrowing of the creeks where the 
bridges are located.  The DEC has given their permission to clean the brush and 
because it is private property, they also need to obtain permission from the land owners.  
She asked Corporation Counsel Knickerbocker to draft up something so that property 
owners could give their permission for cleaning.  It was noted that this was done last 
year and there was only one (1) resident who did not allow anyone onto their property.  
Alderman Feiszli noted that she would prefer to have a form.  She also noted that the 
work would be done by the City and some would be done by volunteers.  It was also 
noted that this should be done in conjunction with September’s river cleanup project, as 
they were kind enough to allow the use of their dumpsters for disposal of debris from 



 5

the creeks and they paid to have it disposed of.  Alderman Partigianoni noted that the 
creeks used to be dredged by the Army Corp of Engineers, but the Corp no longer did 
that. 
 
Ward 7 - Alderman Partigianoni 
 
He attended the Ramada Inn ribbon cutting ceremony.  He was pleased to see the 
renovations.  He noted that softball finished at Dexter Park last evening, but the small 
fry program will be commencing soon.  He announced that an ice cream social at 
Dexter Park is scheduled for early September and he will give more information.  He 
received a call regarding the truck routes at Marietta and he hopes to give some good 
news on that in the near future.   
 
Ward 8 - Alderman Michales 
 
He held a neighborhood walk, August 8.  It was a welcome sight for many neighbors.  
He thanked Sgt. Guerrara for accompanying the group of twenty (20) residents.  The 
police department was briefed on some trouble areas in the neighborhood.  He attended 
the Brockway truck show.  It was a great success.  A neighborhood block picnic was 
held and there was a lot of homemade food and he thanked all of those who 
participated.  He looks forward to next years’ celebration.  It’s a great way to meet your 
neighbors.  He noted that Cedar Street has expressed an interest in joining in the 
neighborhood picnic for next year. 
 
Alderman Partigianoni noted that a $25,000 grant was received for the Community 
Center and it was voted that $9,000 of that would go to the South End for the police 
patrol.  Due to numerous complaints, it was moved to the East End.  He noted that it 
had good results.  Alderman Michales thanked the Chief of Police for helping them in 
that area.   
 
Item No. 1 - Update by the City’s special counsel on the proposed rental permit program 
and other related issues. 
 
Mr. Cheney of Cheney & Blair gave the presentation.  He noted that he had sent down 
information regarding the rental permit program to the Corporation Counsel for 
distribution to the Council.  He wants feedback on this.  He noted that the City could 
write their own punishments, less or more.  The time periods were also another 
discretionary area; i.e., how long to register, etc.  He didn’t feel that the definition of a 
family was all that important as long as the square footage was adequate.  He noted 
that there were exceptions for things like nursing homes, hotels and motels, etc.  He 
noted that the fees established could make this a self-sustaining program.  The Council 
will have to decide how much to charge.  He also gave some generic findings on the law 
for their perusal.   
 
Alderman DeCarlo asked if they could change the wording to something else besides a 
family unit.  Mr. Cheney noted that it could be defined and that family unit did not have 
to be used.  Alderman DeCarlo noted that the law was hanging up on the definition of a 
family unit and he suggested that they look at a change in terminology.  The Mayor felt 
that perhaps they should establish it on a square footage basis.  Mr. Cheney noted that 



 6

that could be based on the total square footage of living space.  Alderman Cobb noted 
that the realtors used the square footage they obtained from the real property tax office 
rather than measuring their own square footage and that seems to work.  Mr. Cheney 
felt that he would prefer to go before a judge for a violation based on square footage as 
opposed to on a definition of family unit.  Alderman Terwilliger asked if there would be 
an incentive program developed to get landlords to participate.  Andy Damiano noted 
that as this is written, landlords would have to comply with the permit program, but a 
carrot was probably needed to gain entry into units by the Code Office.  He had no idea 
what that would be, but perhaps a lower fee would be the incentive.  It will take a long 
time to develop a program.  Perhaps they could get everyone registered within a year 
and all units inspected, perhaps, in three (3) years.  Mr. Cheney felt that perhaps ninety 
(90) percent of landlords would comply. 
 
Alderman Partigianoni would welcome some indication on how landlords felt about this.  
Alderman Terwilliger asked for a public work session.  Andy Damiano noted that in 
order to implement this process the Council would have to enact a local law.  He also 
noted that there would have to be a definition of traditional family, so that they could be 
excluded from the calculation of square footage because they couldn’t dictate that a 
family of ten (10), for example, couldn’t live in a thousand square foot house.  Alderman 
Quail asked what the State allowed for housing square footage per individual. 
 
It was decided that a work session should be scheduled for September 4 with Atty. 
Cheney at 5:30 PM.   
 
RESOLUTION #81 OF 2007 - Consideration of a Resolution acknowledging the receipt 
of a $9,600 donation from Jim Yaman and appropriating said funds to Account No. 
A7110.405.02 (Parks - Operational Equipment). 
 
Everyone on the Council and the Mayor thanked Mr. Yaman. 
 
By:   Alderman DeCarlo 
Seconded:  Alderman Feiszli 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
RESOLUTION #82 OF 2007 - Consideration of the confirmation of the Mayor’s 
appointment of John Graham to the Landscape & Design Commission. 
 
By:   Alderman Terwilliger 
Seconded:  Alderman VanGorder 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
RESOLUTION #83 OF 2007 - Consideration of a Resolution authorizing the 
abandonment of a Permanent Easement & Right-of-Way in the Kent Drive area that 
was granted to the City on March 16, 1999.   
 



 7

Alderman Quail noted that there has been some reported flooding in that area due to 
run off from the hill.  He had spoken with Chris Bistocchi and both are in agreement that 
a drainage ditch down the middle of someone’s property is not a good idea, but he 
wanted it noted that there is a lot of run off that comes off that hill and there are not 
drains or curbing to control that in the area. 
 
By:   Alderman Quail 
Seconded:  Alderman Partigianoni 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
Item No. 5 - Consideration of a Resolution amending the Code of Ordinances to include 
a Nuisance Party Ordinance. 
 
The Mayor suggested that a work session be scheduled for this item and the next item.  
It was agreed by all.  Alderman Quail did want to say that the front yard parking has not 
been changed from what was already established, what was changing was the 
enforcement.  Corporation Counsel agreed with him.  He noted that after speaking with 
the Code Office, he had made some minor changes in the definition of front yard in the 
existing ordinance and this was given to the Council to review.  The reason this has 
come before the Council was because of the decision made by the City Court judge on 
an issue.  The City is trying to address the issues that have been before us in 
conjunction with that court decision and front yard parking.  You can still park in your 
driveway.  The idea is to ticket persons who park on the grass in their front yards.  This 
will help make the flaunters of this ordinance, accountable.  He cited a landlord who had 
now taken steps to prevent his tenants from parking on the front lawn.  He also noted 
that the enforcing officer had the discretion to cite or not cite, but he hoped that they 
would exercise the proper amount of discretion in what they do.  He noted that this is 
not a wholesale change in what they already did.  It is not totally new and different from 
the ordinance that has been on the code books for twenty-five (25) years.  Alderman 
Terwilliger noted that except that now landlords could be potentially responsible.  
Corporation Counsel Knickerbocker noted that some decision would have to be made 
on a number, so that when that amount of violations had been issued at that address in 
a certain period of time, then the Code Office or City Police would send a letter to the 
landlord putting the landlord on notice and that if this continues, they will be ticketed.  
Alderman Terwilliger felt that odd/even parking on some streets should be considered.  
Alderman Partigianoni agreed and noted some paved front lawns that had been in 
existence for some years.  Corporation Counsel Knickerbocker noted that would be a 
case of grandfathering and would meet the definition of an approved driveway.  
Alderman Michales noted that was the case in his area, also.  He could think of one in 
particular.  Alderman Quail also noted that was the case in his area also.  He also felt, 
though, that some landlords had made their own bed, by putting in additional tenants in 
a building with insufficient parking.  Andy Damiano noted that odd/even parking wasn’t 
always the solution.  There was further discussion on the many aspects of the parking 
issue and it was agreed that this would be best dealt with in a work session. 
 
Item No. 6 - Consideration of a Resolution amending the Code of Ordinance to alter the 
existing language relating to front yard parking. 



 8

 
It was decided that a separate work session would be scheduled for items No. 5 and 
No. 6 to begin at 5:30 PM on September 18, 2007.  The DPW would be included in this 
session.  Andy Damiano indicated that he would get all of the necessary departments to 
attend that meeting. 
 
RESOLUTION #84 OF 2007 - Consideration of a Resolution authorizing the Mayor to 
enter into an agreement with Andrew J. Damiano to perform the duties of Director of 
Administration & Finance for the period January 1, 2008 through May 30, 2011. 
 
It was noted that it would be an extension of the current contract.  He was thanked by 
the Council for doing a great job. 
 
By:   Alderman DeCarlo 
Seconded:  Alderman Feiszli 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
Item No. 8 - Continuation of the discussion regarding the exotic pet program. 
 
Alderman Partigianoni noted that he had spoken with several people and he has some 
new information.  He had a number of recommendations for changes to the exotic pet 
permit program. 
 
1.  That the permits were not transferable when the applicant changed their address.  A 
change of address, should require a new application. 
 
2.  Not only should there be a letter on file from the landlord, but also from immediate 
neighbors. 
 
3.  Contact the Common Councilor from the pet owners ward.  He asked that when an 
application is made, that the Common Councilor in the pet owners ward be contacted, 
prior to the application being put on the agenda. 
 
4.  He would like to have the permits to house the exotic pets, but not for display in 
public places unless it is a special circumstance, such as an educational display/show 
at the library or at a school; not to parade on Main Street or to go to a public gathering. 
 
5.  Adoption of an enforceable ordinance that makes the display of exotic pets in public 
subject to a fine.  He would like to go farther, such as seizure of the pet, but that can’t 
be done. 
 
The Mayor asked Alderman Partigianoni to put this presentation and his ideas into a 
readable form for presentation at the next Council meeting.  He agreed to do this.  
There was some further discussion regarding exotic pets and current penalties. 
 



 9

RESOLUTION #85 OF 2007 - Consideration of the confirmation of the Mayor’s 
appointment of Kevin Williams as the Town of Homer’s representative to the Cable 
Commission. 
 
By:   Alderman Quail 
Seconded:  Alderman Michales 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
It was also noted that the work session is open to the public, but the Council noted that 
a designated spokes person from the landlord’s association might be less chaotic, but 
stated that all were welcome to attend. 
 
Adjournment 
 
By:   Alderman Quail       
Seconded:  Alderman Terwilliger 
 
Approved:  Ayes - 8 
   Nays - 0 
 
I, JOHN O. REAGAN, CITY CLERK OF THE CITY OF CORTLAND, NEW YORK DO 
HEREBY CERTIFY THAT SAID RESOLUTIONS WERE ADOPTED AT A REGULAR 
MEETING OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CORTLAND, HELD ON 
THE 21st DAY OF AUGUST 2007.  I FURTHER CERTIFY THE FOREGOING 
RESOLUTIONS WERE PRESENTED TO THE MAYOR IN THE TIME REQUIRED. 
 
 
____________________________ ________________________________ 
JOHN O. REAGAN - CITY CLERK MAYOR THOMAS GALLAGHER 
 
 


